IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC03-1554

HENRY SIRECI,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER
Florida Bar No. 0005584
Assistant Capital Collateral Counsel
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL - MIDDLE
3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE
Suite 210
TAMPA, FL 33619-1136
(813) 740-3544
(813) 740-3554 (Facsimile)
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court of Orange County's denial of Henry P. Sireci's Amended Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing Pursuant To Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853 and Section 925.11 Florida Statutes. The record on appeal is comprised of eight volumes successively paginated beginning with page one. References to the record include a page number and are of the form, e.g., (Vol. 123 R. 123). References to the 1976 trial and record on appeal are of the form (1976 Vol. 123 R. 123) and (1976 ROA Vol. 123 R. 123) respectively. References to the 1990 trial and sentencing proceedings and are of the form (1990 Vol. 123 R.123).

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The resolution of the issues involved in this action may determine whether Mr. Sireci lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument is appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Sireci, through counsel, respectfully requests that this Court permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Sireci was tried, convicted and sentenced to death in 1976. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); cert denied, 456 U.S. 984, 102 S.Ct. 2257, 72 L.Ed.2d 863(1982). Mr. Sireci sought post-conviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. The circuit court denied relief and this Court affirmed the lower court's ruling. Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); cert denied 478 U.S. 1010, 106 S.Ct. 3308, 92 L.Ed.2d 721(1986). While under warrant, a successor 3.850 motion was filed and an evidentiary hearing was granted by the circuit court. The state unsuccessfully appealed. State v. Sireci, 502 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 1987). Following the evidentiary hearing a new penalty phase was granted and this Court affirmed that ruling on appeal. State v. Sireci, 536 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1988). Following the second penalty phase proceeding the jury returned their advisory verdict of 11 to 1 in favor of death and the judge sentenced Mr. Sireci to death. This Court affirmed. Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1991); cert. denied 503 U.S. 946, 112 S.Ct. 1500, 117 L.Ed.2d 639 (1992). In June 1993, Mr. Sireci filed a motion for post-conviction relief under rule 3.850 and subsequently filed three amended motions, including a claim requesting DNA testing. In January 1999, the trial judge conducted a *Huff* hearing and summarily denied all of the claims in Mr. Sireci's motions. This Court affirmed the trial court's

ruling in <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 34 (Fla. 2000). Mr. Sireci then filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus which this Court denied. <u>Sireci v. Moore</u>, 825 So.2d 882 (Fla. 2002).

On September 25, 2002, Mr. Sireci filed an Amended Motion for Post Conviction DNA Testing pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853 and Section 925.11, Florida Statutes. (V. 4, R. 333).² On February 28, 2003, the court dismissed the motion without prejudice. (Vol. VI, R. 702).³ On March 18, 2003, Mr. Sireci filed an Amended Motion For Post-Conviction DNA Testing Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853 and Section 925.11 Florida Statutes.(Vol. VI, R.704). The State filed it's Response on March 31, 2003. (Vol. VI, R. 714). The circuit court held a hearing July 14, 2003, heard argument from counsel and entered its Order denying Mr. Sireci's claim on July 15, 2003. (Vol. VII, R. 996). Mr. Sireci

¹ In its ruling, this Court, *inter alia*, affirmed the circuit court's denial of Mr. Sireci's 3.850 claim on newly discovered evidence as it relates to DNA testing as time-barred and further stated that the particular items, i.e. "...[t]he hairs in the towels in the abandoned motel room..." were not of such a nature that they could be expected to "probably produce an acquittal on retrial" because Barbara Perkins admitted to picking up Mr. Sireci at the abandoned motel and it would not be a stretch to "imagine that she might have actually gone inside the room". <u>Id</u>. at 44.

² This Motion, received by the clerk and date stamped October 1, 2002, was facially insufficient for failure to include a sworn affidavit.

³ In its Order, the circuit court stated it was denying Mr. Sireci's motion filed on "February 26, 2003" but this appears to be a clerical error.

timely filed his Notice of Appeal on August 13, 2003.(Vol. VII, R. 998). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Sireci has maintained, from the time of his trial, that he is innocent of the crime for which he has been twice sentenced to death and for which he is incarcerated on death row. Mr. Sireci seeks to right the injustice that began with his trial and conviction for a crime he did not commit.

Mr. Sireci did not testify during the guilt phase of his 1976 trial. The State presented testimony from seven witnesses who recounted various statements by Mr. Sireci about his involvement in the murder of Mr. Poteet. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); cert denied, 456 U.S. 984, 102 S.Ct. 2257, 72 L.Ed.2d 863(1982). These people included Barbara Perkins, a girlfriend; Donald Holtzinger, a jail inmate; Peter Sireci, brother; Harvey Woodall, a cellmate; Bonnie Lee Arnold, friend; David Wilson, brother-in-law; and detective Gary Arbisi. Sireci v. State, 773 So.2d 34, 43 (Fla. 2000).4

⁴ This Court noted that the statements were consistent and detailed. <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 34, 42-43 (Fla. 2000). However, some of these statements were inconsistent with each other and inconsistent with the forensic evidence. By way of example, Harvey Woodall, a convicted felon who had been sentenced to the penitentiary six times, testified that Mr. Sireci told him he picked up the wrench on the premises. (1976 Vol.III R. 437). Bonnie Arnold, who had sex with Mr. Sireci's alleged girlfriend Barbara Perkins, said Mr. Sireci told him that he brought the wrench with him and hit him on the head in the office and that he fought the victim

The state also presented testimony from crime laboratory analyst William Monroe who purportedly performed valid scientific testing on evidence which placed Mr. Sireci at the murder scene. (1976 Vol. II R. 368). Mr. Monroe, a crime scene analyst from the Sanford Crime Lab, opined that, based on his scientific analyses, the hair found on the victim's sock at the crime scene was "consistent with" Mr. Sireci's hair. Monroe further testified "consistent with means that of all the characteristics of the hairs I examined, I found no significant differences, that in all probability, this hair came from that individual." (1976 Vol. III R. 406-407)(emphasis added). Mr. Monroe also opined that the blood on the denim jacket found in the abandoned motel room "exactly matched" the blood-type groups of Mr. Poteet and excluded Bonnie

when he got out of the car, (1976 Vol. III, R.455-456); and, that Mr. Sireci never took anything from Mr. Poteet. (1976 Vol. IV, R. 473). Detective Arbisi testified that Mr. Sireci told him that he got \$11 from Mr. Poteet, (1976 Vol. III, R. 598); that Mr. Poteet didn't offer much resistance, (1976 Vol. IV, R. 605); and, that Barbara Perkins had "prior knowledge of the homicide" and was present and took part in the homicide. (1976 Vol. IV, R. 608). Barbara Perkins, a convicted thief who later received a three-year deal for charges related to this case and denied being present during the murder, testified that Mr. Sireci told her he took the wrench with him on the way to the used car lot (1976 Vol. I, R. 179) and that he couldn't find any money so he took Mr. Poteet's wallet which contained credit cards. (1976 Vol. I, R. 195). At the 1990 penalty phase, the defense mental health experts testified Mr. Sireci's statements were inconsistent and suggest confabulation, a characteristic consistent with Mr. Sireci's brain damage. Even though the judge rejected that assertion, he found "credible" the defense expert testimony which "convincingly establishes [that Mr. Sireci] suffers from organic brain damage ... and he may be described as functionally retarded." (1990 Vol. XXVI, R. 2676-2677).

Arnold and Henry Sireci. (1976 Vol. II, R. 387-390).

The State Attorney argued in closing that "one of those clothing items became very important later on and that was Mr. Poteet's socks. ... The socks became relevant because on the socks was a hair. ... [and the blood on the jacket] became significant because the blood on that jacket matched the blood of Mr. Howard Poteet." (1976 Vol. IV, R. 679-680.) Mr. Sireci's attorney argued that the crime amounted to only third-degree murder. (1976 Vol. IV, R. 702-712.)

The 1976 trial court prohibited Mr. Sireci from testifying to his innocence during the penalty phase of the proceedings. See Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964, 972 (Fla. 1981). During the guilt phase of the proceedings, Mr. Sireci's attorney spoke to two men who had been transported to the Orange County Jail and who had written a letter which had been sent to various people including the attorneys and the trial judge. The letter implicated a man named James Capotorto aka "Big Jim" in the murder. (1976 ROA Vol. I R. 193 and 1976 Vol. IV R. 648). Following the guilty verdict and the rendering of the jury's advisory sentence recommending death, Mr. Sireci wrote a letter to the trial court wherein he claimed he had wanted to discharge his lawyer prior to the verdict because the two men who wrote the letter about "Big Jim" had not been

⁵ Mr. Sireci's attorney questioned Mr. Sireci under oath on the record as to his agreement with the decision not to call the witnesses and Mr. Sireci initially gave his "tacid (sic) approval or acquiescence". However, the reasons behind the decision were never placed on the record. (1976 Vol. IV R. 650-55).

called to testify and asked the court to declare a mistrial. (1976 ROA Vol. II R. 292-293 and 1976 Vol. Transcript of Sentencing R. 4). The Court denied the motion for mistrial. <u>Id</u>. Nevertheless, Mr. Sireci has continued to maintain his innocence.

In 2003, Mr. Sireci filed his DNA motion under Rule 3.853 and Section 925.11, Florida Statutes which is at issue in this appeal. The DNA motion began by offering facts in support of the lower court granting DNA testing. The motion stated that:

- 1. Henry Sireci was charged with the murder of Howard Poteet. Howard Poteet owned a used car lot in Orlando, Florida. At the time of the offense Henry Sireci was living with and supporting Barbara Perkins, a woman he had met not long before Mr. Poteet's murder. Henry Sireci was accused and convicted of beating and fatally stabbing Howard Poteet at the used car lot.
- 2. Barbara Perkins was also originally accused of murder and robbery of Howard Poteet. At the time of Ms. Perkins' arrest she was found to be in possession of the defendant's automobile and Howard Poteet's credentials and credit cards which she admitted using to forge receipts for gasoline and other expense after leaving Florida. Barbara Perkins eventually became the state's primary witness in their case against Henry Sireci. Although Barbara Perkins denied receiving any benefit in return for her testimony, her charges were eventually reduced to a simple robbery charge for which she pled guilty.
- 3. At trial the State argued that unidentified hairs found on Howard Poteet's sock were likely those of Henry Sireci because of physical similarities between the hair and known samples taken from Mr. Sireci. This argument represented the only physical evidence potentially placing Mr. Sireci at the crime scene. Conversely, Barbara Perkins who testified that she had never been present within the

hotel room identified by the State as the site where Mr. Sireci cleaned up following the homicide was impeached through the presence of her hair on towels taken from the room. Barbara Perkins' presence in the abandoned hotel room would also diminish the argument relied upon by the State that the denim jacket located within the hotel room was tied only to Henry Sireci. In as much as the evidence connecting the jacket which was stained with blood consistent with the victim's was heavily dependent upon Barbara Perkins' testimony; evidence which tend to impeach Perkins' testimony also tends to exculpate Henry Sireci.

4. Thorough and modern testing of the available blood and hair samples collected at the used carlot office is now a viable and legislatively recognized tool for establishing unbiased, unimpeachable circumstantial evidence of an individual's presence or absence from a crime scene. Mitochondrial testing of the hair found on Mr. Poteet's sock would eliminate all physical evidence of Mr. Sireci's presence at the carlot. Since the hair was not Mr. Poteet's hair, the elimination of Mr. Sireci as the donor increases, albeit circumstantially, the likelihood of another perpetrator of this crime. Furthermore, should the hair be determined to belong to Ms. Perkins, her selfserving testimony concerning her innocent involvement in Mr. Poteet's death would be greatly undermined. In addition, should the hairs on the towels at the abandoned motel prove to be Ms. Perkins or eliminate Henry Sireci, her testimony that she had never been present at this locale which was alleged to contain physical evidence from the person of Mr. Poteet would again be undermined and point inescapably to the likelihood that Ms. Perkins was either directly or indirectly involved in Mr. Poteet's homicide. Identical logic applied to the issue of the denim jacket results on the same conclusion, Henry Sireci is innocent of the first degree murder of Howard Poteet and the death penalty. Inculpatory evidence of Ms. Perkins presence at the crime scene would also undermine her often times

incredible and self-serving account of just exactly how she came to be in possession of Mr. Poteet's belongings and Mr. Sireci's automobile thousands of miles away from the scene of the crime. Proof of Ms. Perkins' involvement establishes Mr. Sireci's innocence of the murder of Howard Poteet and innocence of the death penalty.

The DNA motion, tracking the statute and rule, stated specifically the whereabouts of the relevant evidence in this case in a section of the motion entitled LOCATION OF EVIDENCE TO BE TESTED. (Vol. 6 R. 707-708).

In sum, the evidence that Mr. Sireci sought testing of was either in the possession of the Orange County Sheriff's Office or, if admitted into evidence, in the possession of the Orange County Criminal Clerk. (Vol. 6 R. 707-708). A summary of the evidence in the possession of the Orange County Sheriff's Office and the Orange County Clerk's Office was pled in this section.

In a section of the motion entitled PRIOR SCIENTIFIC TESTING ON THE EVIDENCE OF THIS CASE, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853(b)(2), Mr. Sireci stated that there had been no prior DNA testing that was known to Mr. Sireci or undersigned counsel. ⁶ (Vol. 6 R. 707-709).

⁶ Prior scientific testing performed on the evidence in this case by the Sanford Crime Lab consisted of hair comparison analyses of the hair found on the victim's sock with hairs obtained from others including Ms. Perkins, Mr. Arnold and Mr. Poteet. The lab also performed blood typing comparison on the blood-stained jacket purported to belong to Mr. Sireci.

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853(b)(3), Mr. Sireci stated that he was actually and legally innocent of the murder for which he was sentenced to death and that he was innocent of the death penalty. (Vol. 6. R. 709).

Mr. Sireci stated that he "maintains that the true murderer of the victim was either Barbara Perkins or her accomplice(s). Specifically, Mr. Sireci maintains that it was Barbara Perkins or her accomplices who stabbed and robbed Mr. Poteet." (Vol. 6 R. 709).

Mr. Sireci further pled that his "1976 trial was not an adversarial testing.⁷ Mr. Sireci's attorney failed to effectively hold the State to its burden of proving beyond the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that Mr. Sireci was guilty and failed to adequately put forth a defense that would have shown that Barbara Perkins or her accomplices were the true perpetrators of the crime. Accordingly any determination of guilt is invalid, suspect and unconstitutional." (Vol. 6 R. 709).

Mr. Sireci followed Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853(b)(3) and (b)(4) and detailed the relevance of DNA testing in a section of the motion entitled RELEVANCE OF DNA TESTING. (Vol. 6. R. 709-710). Mr. Sireci began this

⁷ It is of note that of the seven people who testified that Mr. Sireci admitted to killing Mr. Poteet, at least one was not cross-examined at all, and most were subject to a cursory, unfocused cross-examination. Barbara Perkins and Bonnie Arnold were the only witnesses who were subject to cross-examination of any length and even that examination was inadequate.

section of the motion by stating "that the identity of the true murderer of the victim is as genuinely disputed now as it was during the trial." (Vol. 6. R. 710).

Pursuant to this rule, Mr. Sireci "state[d] that DNA testing, blood and hair analysis requested in this motion will exonerate Henry Sireci. Due to the location of the evidence DNA testing may show that Barbara Perkins or her accomplices battered and fatally stabbed the victim, that her hair or blood was present at the crime scene, that her hair was present at the motel she testified she had not visited, or that there was other forensic evidence." (Vol. 6. R. 710-711).

Mr. Sireci further pled that "[t]he DNA and micro analysis would also tend to exonerate Henry Sireci and show that the state's initial unreliable analysis improperly excluded Barbara Perkins and improperly inculpated Henry Sireci." (Vol. 6. R. 711).

Completing this section of the motion, Mr. Sireci pled that: "Lastly, the evidence would also show that Henry Sireci was innocent of the death penalty by showing that even if he was involved in the death of the victim Henry Sireci was a minor participant.

See Section 921.141(6)(d), Florida Statutes. Had Barbara Perkins or her accomplices committed this offense this would mitigate his death sentence." (Vol. 6. R. 711).

Because of the unique issues raised in Mr. Sireci's case, Mr. Sireci requested an independent laboratory for any potential DNA testing in a section of the motion entitled "REQUEST FOR AN INDEPENDENT LAB AND GOOD CAUSE FOR THE SAME." (Vol. 6. R. 711-712). This request was pursuant to Florida Rule of

Criminal Procedure 3.853(c)(7).

Under this section of the motion Mr. Sireci stated that:

- 1. FDLE is a state funded agency primarily acting in the scope of law enforcement investigation and not limited to pure "scientific" testing of materials. FDLE works in tandem with all other law enforcement agencies sited within the Florida jurisdiction and as such frequently acts as a confidential source for law enforcement agencies including Sheriff's departments, Municipal police departments and Offices of the States Attorney.
- 2. FDLE has a conflict of interest in undertaking the analysis of the evidence in this case: If FDLE finds that the evidence incorrectly implicated Henry Sireci and exculpated Barbara Perkins, this would be proof of the State's nonfeasance, misfeasance or malfeasance. Such a finding would damage the reputation of FDLE and could subject FDLE to legislative, judicial and public scrutiny. Accordingly, it is apparent that FDLE has an interest in avoiding any evidence of mistakes made by the Sanford Crime Lab.
- 3. As part of the "state" that seeks to execute Henry Sireci FDLE lacks the scientific neutrality of an independent lab. FDLE would have access to law enforcement information on this case and law enforcement would have access to FDLE.
- 4. A significant length of time that has passed from the collection of evidence and the methods used to collect evidence in this case. To perform the relevant tests a lab must have both the scientific ability to conduct the most advanced tests and the willingness to search for and analyze trace evidence that the Sanford Crime Lab did not originally test.
 - 5. Ordering an independent lab avoids the suspicion

that the original evidence testing in this case consisted of law enforcement solely focusing on that individual suspected as the perpetrator and then conducting only enough analysis to inculpate that suspect. (Vol. 6. R. 712).

Mr. Sireci concluded the motion by requesting certain procedures for the testing in a section entitled REQUESTED PROCEDURE FOR TESTING IN THIS CASE. (Vol. 6. R. 711-712). The motion stated that CCRC-M would pay the costs of such testing and detailed what exactly would be tested if the circuit court granted Mr. Sireci DNA testing. Moreover, this section of the motion proposed an exact procedure for the testing. (Vol. 6 R. 711-712).

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