IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HENRY P. SIRECI,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC03-1554 Lower Court No. CR76-532

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910

Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Sireci VI, 773 So.2d at 44.

Sireci's argument is no more persuasive now than when this Court rejected it in Sireci's motion for postconviction relief as an allegation of newly discovered evidence. In fact, the State questions the propriety of relitigating this issue when it was considered and rejected by this Court in a prior appeal. The issue should be barred by the law of the case doctrine. See Owen v. State, ___ So. 2d ___, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S790 (Fla

October 23, 2003) ("Generally, under the doctrine of the law of the case, 'all questions of law which have been decided by the highest appellate court become the law of the case which must be followed in subsequent proceedings, both in the lower and appellate courts.'") (quoting Brunner Enters., Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 452 So. 2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1984)). While the rule is not an absolute mandate, it is a "self-imposed restraint that courts abide by to promote finality and efficiency in the judicial process and prevent relitigation of the same issue in a case." Id. This court should decline to review this claim because it has already been considered and rejected on the same set of facts.

Regardless of any bar to review of his claim, the State notes that the evidence linking Sireci to the crimes was overwhelming, and based upon Sireci's numerous confessions. While Sireci attempts to discredit some of the confessions, the sheer number of confessions and admissions militates against finding any doubt Sireci was responsible for the victim's murder. The sources of these confessions are not simply a jail house snitch or a possible co-defendant, they include friends, relatives of Sireci, and, at least one detective. Moreover, as this Court has already found, finding Ms. Perkins' hair in the

hotel room would in no way exonerate Sireci. Consequently, his claim must be denied.

2) The Jacket

Petitioner claims now that the blood on the jacket found in the abandoned hotel room should be subject to DNA testing. However, Sireci's motion clearly referenced the hairs found in the hotel where the blood stained jacket was located. (V-6, 705-706). The motion itself made no assertion that the testing on the blood found on the jacket might somehow exonerate Sireci. Consequently, to the extent Sireci is now making a different argument on appeal, his argument is not preserved for appeal. <u>Archer v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993)("For an issue to be preserved for appeal, however, it 'must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved.'" (quoting Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985)). In fact, during oral argument on the motion, counsel conceded that blood on the jacket was that of the victim, stating, in part: "...The blood that was found on that jacket was, in fact, determined to be Mr. Poteet's."4 (V-2,

⁴The laboratory analyst testified at trial that the blood on the jacket was consistent with the murder victim in the ABO, MN, and RH systems. (TR. 372-73). The blood matched Mr. Poteet's blood and antigen grouping. Only 2.4 percent of the population has the same blood and antigen grouping. (TR. 412)

6). The focus of counsel's argument was clearly on hairs which might have linked Ms. Perkins to the abandoned hotel room where the jacket was found, not the blood on the jacket.

In any case, Sireci's argument strains credulity to suggest that testing on the jacket might somehow produce a different result at trial. Even if the victim's blood was not the jacket, the victim was nonetheless stabbed to death, and, Sireci repeatedly confessed to murdering him. Moreover, even if the blood belonged to Sireci's first murder victim, or, to another unidentified victim, this factor would not tend to exonerate Sireci for the murder of Howard Poteet.

3) <u>Hair On The Murder Victim's Sock</u>

The hair found on the victim's sock was not significant evidence of Sireci's guilt. The hair resembled Sireci's, but, Sireci admitted being in the office prior to the murder. Moreover, whether DNA testing would confirm the hair was Sireci's or not, this fact would not tend to exonerate Sireci. The hair might have been left by Sireci or some unknown third party who came into Mr. Poteet's public place of business. Sireci has not even alleged that the hair resembled a hair which might have come from Ms. Perkins. In contrast to Sireci, Ms.

⁵Indeed, the crime analyst compared the hair on the sock and found it was consistent with the known sample from Sireci, but not consistent with any of the other known samples, which

Perkins has not confessed to the murder of Mr. Poteet, much less repeatedly confessed to several different people as Sireci has. Moreover, in none of these confessions did Sireci assert that Ms. Perkins stabbed the victim. Sireci simply has not articulated any credible scenario where DNA testing might show Ms. Perkins was either responsible for the victim's murder or that she was an equally culpable co-defendant. Nor has Sireci shown how such DNA testing would undermine his numerous confessions (direct evidence) to the brutal murder of Mr. Poteet.

4) Remaining Items

As the State noted in its response below, any remaining items are not sufficiently identified or linked to any aspect of the victim's murder to allow for an intelligent response. Consequently, his vague assertion may be summarily dismissed on appeal. Sireci has in no way articulated any reasonable basis to conclude that testing on the items mentioned in his motion might result in admissible evidence, much less exonerate him. (V-6, 707).

B. <u>Discussion Of The Law</u>

included a hair sample from Barbara Perkins. (TR. 383-84; 406-07).

This Court recently affirmed the denial of postconviction DNA testing under similar circumstances in Hitchcock v. State, ___ So. 2d ___, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S13 (Fla January 15, 2004). Hitchcock sought DNA testing pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853. Pursuant to the rule, Hitchcock asserted that the requested DNA testing would establish his innocense. 29 Fla. L. Weekly at S13. Hitchcock admitted to having sex with his 13 year-old niece [corroborated by DNA testing], but asserted the true murderer was his brother, a position that he took at trial when he testified. Hitchcock requested DNA analysis which he asserted would show that hair analysis conducted at trial improperly included him as the source of the hair, and, improperly excluded his brother, Richard. Hitchcock also asserted that DNA testing on the hair "may" show that Hitchcock's brother strangled the victim and that his hair or blood was at the scene of the murder. Hitchcock then went on to list 24 items that he sought to be tested by an independent lab for DNA.

The trial court denied the motion, stating the allegation that DNA testing may exonerate the defendant was too "speculative" to grant postconviction DNA testing. The court noted that the defendant confessed to having sexual intercourse with the victim and that he failed to establish a reasonable

probability that DNA testing would exonerate him of the victim's subsequent murder. The court noted that the presence of physical evidence linked to his brother Richard (who lived in the house with the victim), would "not establish that Defendant was not at the scene or that he did not commit the murder." Id. at S14.

This Court affirmed the trial court's denial of DNA testing under Rule 3.853, noting the defendant has the burden of meeting the requirements of the rule:

The clear requirement of these provisions is that a movant, in pleading the requirements of rule 3.853, must lay out with specificity how the DNA testing of each item requested to be tested would give rise to a reasonable probability of acquittal or a lesser sentence. In order for the trial court to make the required findings, the movant must demonstrate the nexus between the potential results of DNA testing on each piece of evidence and the issues in the case.

Hitchcock, at S14. This Court noted that Rule 3.853 does not authorize a speculative "fishing expedition" stating that "[i]t was Hitchcock's burden to explain, with reference to specific facts about the crime and the items he wished to have tested, 'how the DNA testing requested by the motion will exonerate the movant of the crime for which the movant was sentenced, or . . . will mitigate the sentence received by the movant for that crime.'" Id. at S14 (quoting Rule 3.853)(emphasis in original).

In this case, Sireci has clearly failed to meet his burden of showing that the DNA testing would somehow exonerate him or lead to a lesser sentence. Sireci has simply embarked upon a "fishing expedition" of the type this Court condemned in Hitchcock. Moreover, as in Hitchcock, Sireci has failed to give any credible explanation of how a few of Ms. Perkins' hairs, found in an abandoned hotel room, or, the one hair found on the victim's sock, would exonerate Sireci or mitigate his sentence. That is, even if the highly speculative assertions regarding Ms. Perkins' hair are proved true by DNA testing, nothing has changed. Sireci's repeated confessions are not impeached or in any way cast in doubt.

Sireci's reliance upon <u>Riley v. State</u>, 851 So. 2d 811 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) and <u>Knighten v. State</u>, 829 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), is misplaced. In neither of these cases did the defendant confess to the crimes and identification of the defendant as the perpetrator was genuinely disputed at trial. In this case, Sireci was positively identified by his confessions, not a questionable eyewitness identification.

Identity is simply not an issue in this case. As this Court noted in affirming the denial of Sireci's motion for postconviction relief: "An independent review of the record indicates that, in total, seven different people testified that

appellant confessed to them that he had murdered Howard Poteet."

Sireci, 773 So. 2d at 42-43. "Specifically, the following people testified that Sireci admitted killing Mr. Poteet: (1)

Barbara Perkins--girlfriend; (2) Donald Holtzinger--cell mate; (3) Peter Sireci--brother; (4) Harvey Woodall--cell mate; (5)

Bonnie Lee Arnold--friend; (6) David Wilson--brother in law⁶; (7)

Gary Arbisi--detective." Id. at 43 n. 16. "Those confessions were all consistent, detailed accounts of the murder." Id. at 43. Indeed, even at trial the identity of Sireci as the person who killed Mr. Poteet was not in dispute. Defense counsel argued the State had not proved first-degree murder, but conceded that Sireci was guilty of third degree murder. (TR. 702-12).

DNA testing of the type requested in this case does not create a reasonable probability of a different result at trial. Accordingly, the trial court's order denying such testing must be affirmed.

II.

⁶The trial court allowed into evidence testimony from another former cell mate [Holtzinger] concerning an attempt by appellant to eliminate his former brother-in-law Wilson as a witness. "The defendant told Holtzinger that the purpose of eliminating Wilson and preventing him from testifying was to discredit the testimony of witness Perkins, thereby avoiding a conviction." Sireci, 399 So. 2d at 968.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER FAILS TO SUFFICIENTLY STATE ITS RATIONALE OR RENDER FACTUAL FINDINGS WHICH VIOLATES SIRECI'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR APPEAL? (STATED BY APPELLEE)

Appellant complains that the trial court's order failed to state the court's rationale or render factual findings. The State disagrees.

The State realizes that the record is limited to what was utilized by the trial court below in denying the motion for DNA testing. Nonetheless, the trial court did state it reviewed some 12 volumes of record including the motion and State's response with its attached record. (V-2, 11). Contrary to Sireci's assertion that the trial court failed to "state its factual findings and rationale[,]" (Sireci's Brief at 28) the trial court's rationale was clearly stated in the written order. The trial court found that Sireci failed to show a "reasonable probability" of acquittal or that he would receive a "lesser sentence" on retrial. (V-7, 997). This order sufficiently states the court's rationale for appeal.

In <u>Sireci</u> VI this Court rejected a similar contention regarding the trial court's summary denial of a claim for postconviction relief. This Court stated:

Appellant argues that the trial court failed to cite to or attach the portions of the record that refute this claim, and that, in relation, the trial judge did not review the transcripts from the original guilt phase. Appellant is correct. However, in Anderson v. State, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993), this Court noted that in order to "support summary denial without a hearing, a trial court must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion." (Emphasis supplied). In the instant case, while the trial court did not attach portions of the record, it did state its rationale.

773 So. 2d at 41 n. 15. The trial court's order sufficiently states its rationale and the available record provides ample support for the court's decision.

This Court's summary of the overwhelming evidence⁷ available against appellant on denying his motion for postconviction relief in <u>Sireci</u> VI, does much to refute collateral counsel's assertion that the confessions were somehow inconsistent or that the source of the confessions were somehow unreliable. Sireci did not simply confess to his cell mate or Ms. Perkins. Sireci confessed his involvement in the murder to his brother and mother, among others. Peter Sireci testified that appellant told him that Perkins had certain credit cards that he took from the man he killed. Sireci

also told his brother that he was preparing to go to Canada because the police were looking for him. (TR. 420-421). The State's Response to Sireci's motion for DNA testing attached a

⁷This Court discussed the evidence in rejecting Sireci's claim that the State withheld potential impeachment evidence.

transcript of the taped conversation from the jail between Sireci and his mother. In this transcript, Sireci confessed to killing the victim, admitting that he slit the victim's throat. (V-6, 747).

Since a review of the available record would only reveal additional evidence of Sireci's guilt, Sireci has failed to establish any need for a remand so that the trial court can further elaborate on its reasons for denying the motion below, i.e., elaborate on why the court believed that there was no "reasonable probability" of acquittal or of a "lesser sentence" on retrial. The trial court made sufficient findings under Rule 3.853 (c)(5)(C).

WHETHER DENIAL OF SIRECI'S MOTION FOR DNA TESTING VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO HABEAS CORPUS IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS? (STATED BY APPELLEE)

Sireci clearly pursued his claim for DNA testing below under Florida Statute and criminal procedure rules. Sireci's argument was not based upon an assertion that he has a constitutional right to DNA testing in this case. Nor did Sireci claim below that he was seeking habeas corpus relief. Consequently, this issue has not been preserved for review on appeal. See Section 924.051 (1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1996)("'Preserved' means that an issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and that the issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor."); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) ("except in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court.").

Under the same circumstances in <u>Hitchcock</u>, this Court declined to discuss assertions that the circuit court's

 $^{^{8}}$ This claim was not made in written motion or in oral argument on the motion below. (V-2, 3-9).

rejection of DNA testing violated the constitution or Hitchcock's right to habeas relief. This Court stated: "Additionally, Hitchcock raised before this Court a constitutional argument that the circuit court's denial of his motion violated his right to habeas corpus relief. We conclude, as the State correctly noted, that this argument was not preserved because Hitchcock did not claim a constitutional right to DNA testing before the circuit court below." Hitchcock, at S14 n. 3. This Court should similarly find that the issue is not preserved for appeal here.9

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